RECEIVED

Aug 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity

Case No.: 2018-CP-10-4083

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001114

Charleston Carriage Works, L.L.C.,

Appellant,

v.

Charleston Animal Society, Ellen Harley and
Charleston Carriage Horse Advocates, Inc.,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

August 9, 2023

/s/Thomas R. Goldstein

Thomas R. Goldstein, S. C. Bar No. 2186
Belk, Cobb, Infinger & Goldstein, P.A.

P. O. Box 71121

N. Charleston, S. C. 29415-1121

(843) 554 4291 (843) 554 5566 (fax)

tgoldstein@cobblaw.net

Attorneys for Appellant)

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN REFUSING TO REQUIRE THE CHARLESTON CARRIAGE HORSE ADVOCATES AND ELLEN HARLEY PROVIDE REQUESTED DISCOVERY MATERIAL, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, A FORENSIC EXAMINATION OF THEIR ELECTRONIC DEVICES AND PROCEED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THE PLAINTIFF HAD NOT BEEN PROVIDED A FULL AND FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO COMPLETE DISCOVERY?
2. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY FAIL TO APPLY THE CORRECT SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD TO THE FACTS AND FAIL TO APPLY THE CORRECT LAW?
 - A. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY IMPROPERLY CONSTRUED THE EVIDENCE AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF AS TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION.
 - B. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY MISAPPLIED THE LAW IN FINDING THE PLAINTIFF IS A “LIMITED PUBLIC FIGURE” WHEN THE LAW DOES NOT PERMIT A TORTFEASER TO TRANSFORM A PRIVATE PERSON INVOLUNTARILY INTO A PUBLIC FIGURE BY ATTACKING HIM.
 - C. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN REQUIRING PLAINTIFF TO PROVE MALICE, BUT IF MALICE IS REQUIRED, THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY IGNORED THE EXTENSIVE EVIDENCE OF MALICE.
3. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW THE PLAINTIFF TO ADD ADDITIONAL PARTIES DEFENDANT WHEN IT LEARNED THE DEFENDANTS IDENTIFIED THIRD PARTIES AS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE PUBLISHED DEFAMATION?
4. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW THE PLAINTIFF TO ADD PARTIES PLAINTIFF AFTER DEFENDANTS ALLEGED DAMAGES ACCRUED TO THE PRINCIPALS OF THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY BUT NOT THE COMPANY?
5. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN REFUSING TO AMEND THE SCHEDULING ORDER WHEN THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATED:
 - A) THE DEFENDANTS, CHARLESTON CARRIAGE HORSE ADVOCATES AND HARLEY, REFUSED TO PROVIDE DISCOVERY;
 - B) PLAINTIFF’S ATTORNEY SUFFERED A HEART ATTACK IN APRIL 2019 WHICH LED TO OPEN HEART SURGERY IN AUGUST 2019, REQUIRING A LENGTHY RECUPERATION;
 - C) THE PROGRESS OF CASES ACROSS THE STATE WERE SLOWED BY COVID RESTRICTIONS BEGINNING IN 2020?

Statement of the Case

Charleston Carriage Works is one of four horse-drawn carriage companies in Charleston operating under the City's Tourism Regulations. (R.O.A. Vol. 4, page 1707) On April 19, 2017, the City assigned the plaintiff a route that takes the tour down Meeting Street. April 19th was a pleasant day, with temperatures in the low 70's. An experienced driver, Gabby Byrd, carried 10 school children from North Carolina behind Big John, a 22-year-old Belgian draft horse in new shoes. As the carriage approached the intersection of Meeting Street and Hasell Street, Big John slipped, sat and then laid down until he was unharnessed and walked back to the barn 11 minutes later.

Immediately, a small crowd gathered, including two principals of the "Charleston Carriage Horse Advocates" (and also the Charleston Animal Society's "Equine Cruelty Committee"), Ellen Harley and Elizabeth Fort. (Vol. 1, 364, 386, Vol. 2, 567, 585, Vol. 3, 1059 R.O.A. [City Tourism Minutes Aug. 18, 2015, Supp. affidavit filed June 23, 2020, page 5, Ex. 1 and Second Supp. affidavit filed Aug. 19, 2021; Ex. 1 May 20, 2022 Motion[photo]) Video evidence demonstrates that Ms. Harley pushed her way forward and was interfering with the driver attempting to unharness Big John who asked her to step back. R.O.A. Vol 3, page 972 [screen shot of video filed May 20, 2022]

In accordance with City regulations (R.O.A. pages 1707-1716), the City dispatched its Equine Manager, Shannon Tillman, to the scene to examine Big John and prepare a written report. She found him unharmed and pronounced him fit for work. In addition, a qualified Doctor of Veterinary Medicine, Dr. Byrd (now Dr. Little) examined Big John and also found him unharmed and fit for work. Both the City's Equine Manager and the veterinarian reduced their findings to writing, which the City immediately released to the public. Both reports are found in the R.O.A. at Vol. 2, 567, Vol. 3, 1059 [Ex. 1 to dep. of Dr. Miller; Dr. Little quoted page 22 of Jan. 26, 2022

Supp. Memo, R.O.A. Vol. 3, pages 851-854. The defendants knew of these reports prior to disseminating their edited video containing false statements.

Immediately following the April 19th incident, the defendants cobbled together a video comprised of footage shot by Ellen Harley and one or two others. Dan Krosse, the Charleston Animal Society's "media specialist," edited and inserted demonstrably false editorial comments in the form of insinuating questions and published it as "evidence" of Big John's "collapse" from "exhaustion." R.O.A. Vol. 2, pages 352, 353-355, 366, 398 [affidavits filed February 25, 2020, page 4, pages 6-7; filed Dec. 2, 2020, page 7; September 24, 2021, page 11, page 15 "Demand Humane Carriage Tours," *etc.*; note quotation marks on "trip" on defendants' video labeling]

On April 25, 2017 and May 11, 2017, the plaintiff sent letters to the defendants informing them that their misrepresentations were damaging the plaintiff and asking them to please correct the statement that Big John collapsed. R.O.A. Vol. 2, page 867 [Supp. Memo. of Law filed January 6, 2022, Exhibits 1 and 2 and Ex. 3 to January 31, 2020 deposition of Ellen Harley]. When the request for retraction failed, and after a year of escalating damage resulting from the defendants' continuing social media statements labeling him as an animal abuser, the plaintiff filed a suit in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on May 29, 2018 at Case Number 2018-CP-10-2704. On July 19, 2018, the defendants filed a Notice of Removal to federal court, and on July 23, 2018, the plaintiff filed a motion to remand to state court. On August 15, 2018, the plaintiff took a voluntary nonsuit and refiled the action in state court omitting the federal cause of action on August 17, 2018 at Case Number 2018-CP-10-4083, alleging the five causes of action: civil conspiracy, intentional infliction of mental distress (outrage), violation of civil rights, tortious interference with business relations, and defamation. (R.O.A. Vol. 1, page 77)

The defendants filed joint motions to dismiss on October 19, 2018. (R.O.A. Vol. 1, page 87) Six months later, while the parties were waiting for a decision on the defendants' joint motion to

dismiss, plaintiff's counsel suffered a heart attack in April 2019. This led to hospitalization and outpatient treatment, but counsel worked up to August, 2019, when M.U.S.C. performed an open heart procedure. Recovery progressed slowly, including damage to the laryngeal nerve, reducing counsel's speaking voice to a whisper for approximately six months.

On July 5, 2019, the plaintiff filed its first motion to compel and amended this motion on September 27, 2019. Vol. 1, R.O.A. pages 89 and 143. On July 16, 2019, the parties entered into a Consent Scheduling Order. (R.O.A. Vol. 1, page 75) On July 22, 2019, the defendant, Charleston Animal Society, filed a motion to compel discovery. R.O.A. Vol 1, page 101.

On November 20, 2019, more than a year—461 days—after plaintiff filed its complaint, 79 days before the expiration of the Scheduling Order, the defendants filed simultaneous motions for Summary Judgment and Answers. (R.O.A. Vol. 1, pages 177 and 182) Charleston Carriage Horse Advocates and Ellen Harley also filed a Motion to Strike parts of the plaintiff's complaint. (R.O.A. Vol. 1, page 204)

The discovery process was contentious resulting in two court appearances before Judge Price. On January 30, 2020, the defendants, Carriage Horse Advocates and Harley, filed a motion for a protective Order, a motion to quash a discovery subpoena, and a motion to compel. R.O.A. Vol 1, pages 206-240. Judge Bentley Price heard discovery motions on May 28, 2020 and June 6, 2020, and issued an Orders on June 17, 2020 and July 30, 2020. See R.O.A. Vol. 1, pages 65 and 68 for Orders and Vol. 4, pages 1546-1585 for the transcripts of the two hearings.

When the defendants, Harley and Charleston Carriage Horse Advocates, continued to thwart discovery, the plaintiff filed a motion for sanctions on October 2, 2020. R.O.A. Vol. 1, page 334. On May 27, 2021, the parties agreed to refer all outstanding motions to the Master-in-Equity. Following the Order of Reference, the Master-in-Equity issued the following Orders:

| | |
|--------------|---|
| May 5, 2022 | Order denying sanctions for failure to provide discovery |
| May 12, 2022 | Order denying amendments to add parties defendant and plaintiff |

| | |
|----------------|---|
| May 12, 2022 | Order denying amended scheduling Order |
| May 12, 2022 | Order granting summary judgment |
| August 2, 2022 | Order denying motions for reconsideration |

For the Court’s convenience an Index of each Order issued in this case is as follows:

| | |
|-----------------|--|
| June 2, 2020 | Confidentiality Order |
| June 17, 2020 | Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel is Granted |
| July 30, 2020 | Order Resolving Cross Motions to Compel |
| May 27, 2021 | Order referring case to Master-in-Equity |
| July 8, 2021 | Order referring case to Master-in-Equity (reference fee omitted) |
| May 5, 2022 | Master-in-Equity Order denying sanctions |
| May 12, 2022 | Master-in-Equity Order denying amendments |
| May 12, 2022 | Master-in-Equity Order denying amended scheduling Order |
| May 12, 2022 | Master-in-Equity Order granting summary judgment |
| August 2, 2022 | Master-in-Equity Order denying motions for reconsideration |
| August 11, 2022 | Notice of Appeal |

Facts

The City of Charleston has adopted comprehensive carriage tour regulations, to which each carriage company is required to adhere. (R.O.A. Vol. 4, pages 1707-1716) All defendants participated in the creation of these ordinances. These regulations include, among other things: a requirement that the temperature of each horse after each tour be recorded and maintained, a requirement that all tours be suspended at a proscribed temperature/humidity formula, prescribed periods of work and rest, a 15 minute break after each tour, no more than 8 consecutive work hours, 1 day’s rest after every 6 days, 14 days pasture rest every 120 days, and an annual inspection by qualified veterinarian. See § 29-212, “General Health care and management requirements” R.O.A. Vol. 4, pages 1711-1715 (Chapter 29, City Code of Ordinances, Article V “Transportation by Animal-Drawn Vehicles”) The City maintains a full time equine manager, a Tourism Director, and numerous Tourism Enforcement Officers to enforce the City’s comprehensive regulations.

The defendant, Ellen Harley, a part-time resident of Charleston resides at 23 Wentworth Street which is on the route for Zone 4 of carriage tours.

Charleston Animal Society is a quasi-governmental agency, animal welfare society heavily supported by Charleston County taxpayers as well as the municipalities of North Charleston and

Mount Pleasant. It is also a prodigious fund raiser. As of the date of filing this Initial Brief, Charleston Animal Society's publicly disclosed financial statements reveal an institution with over 28 million dollars in assets. Charleston County provides direct taxpayer support currently at the rate of \$175,000.00 a month to fund the operation, and both the County of Charleston and the City of North Charleston donated the land and building upon which the Society operates.

On April 19th, 2017, Big John slipped, sat down, laid down and within 11 minutes barn hands unharnessed him and were walking him back to the barn uninjured.

The City's Equine Manager and a qualified veterinarian examined him at the barn, and both found him uninjured, and pronounced him fit for work. Their written reports are read into the R.O.A. at Vol. 4, pages 1538-39 [Ex. 2 Dr. Miller dep.] and 841 854 [Dr. Little testimony, pages 9 and 22 of Jan. 26, 2022 Supp. Memo.] and were immediately released to the public.

The defendants possessed this information the same day the City compiled it, and acknowledged it by putting "trip" in quotation marks on the Krosse video edits. Yet, despite **seeing him walk back to the barn uninjured**, and despite being aware that two independent equine experts examined Big John and concluded he was uninjured, they nonetheless knowingly disseminated social media carefully tailored to cast plaintiff in a false light. They made no effort to gather information or interview independent sources for confirmation or otherwise display professional standards of a media defendant. The still photos of the defendants' video with the Dan Krosse editorial comments are in the Record on Appeal at Vol. 2, pages 774 and 775 alone create a genuine issue of material fact that the defendants misled the public to damage the plaintiff and generate fundraising by creating a false insinuation that Big John "collapsed" due to abuse and overwork, high temperature, or exhaustion. What they knowingly did is evidence of malice.

Standard of Review

On review of an order granting summary judgement, the appellate court applies the same standard as that used by the trial court. *Joseph v. South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing*

and Regulation, 417 S.C. 436, 790 S.E.2d 763 (2016) Summary judgment is a drastic remedy which should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues. *Murphy v. Tyndall*, 384 S. C. 50, 681 S.E.2d 28 (Ct. App. 2009) A court cannot entertain a motion for summary judgment until the plaintiff has had a “full and fair” opportunity to complete discovery. *Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 278 S.E.2d 854 (2003):

The Court of Appeals held the trial court abused its discretion in granting summary judgment before Doe had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. We agree.

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues. *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991). This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. *Id.*

In *Baughman*, we ruled summary judgment premature because (1) plaintiffs demonstrated a likelihood that further discovery would uncover additional relevant evidence, and (2) plaintiffs were not dilatory in seeking discovery. Although three years had elapsed between filing the action and summary judgment, the delay could not fairly be attributed solely to plaintiffs' inaction, and the delay was tempered by the complexity of the case. *Id.* at 112-114, 410 S.E.2d at 544.

The record here does not support a finding that Doe was dilatory in pursuing discovery. Depositions, including Donald's, were scheduled for the week following the hearing. Doe had noticed Batson's deposition on January 31, 1998, but postponed it at the request of defense counsel in two related cases, in order to consolidate the discovery process. Although the delay was in no way attributable to Batson, it was not solely attributable to Doe either. Doe should have been permitted to complete discovery. See *J.S. v. R.T.H.*, 714 A.2d 924, 936 (N.J. 1998) (summary judgment entered five months after defendant's answer was filed was premature; "plaintiffs should have been given the opportunity to depose [molester] and others to try to discover further evidence bearing on [defendant's] knowledge of [molester's] conduct or sexual proclivities").

When the evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, the issue should be submitted to the jury, rather than resolved at the summary judgment stage. *Murphy v. Tyndall*, *ibid.* In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonable be drawn therefrom must be viewed by the court considering a motion for summary judgment in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party; if triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006) (The Master-in-Equity applied an erroneous standard of review, best summarized by pointing out the erroneous reliance on *Peeler v. Spartanburg Herald-Journal*, 681 F. Supp. 1144 (1988) and *City of Columbia v. Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 278, 531 S.E.2d 518 (2000). The first case involved a **political candidate's**—public **official's**—claim against a **newspaper**, and the second case, a zoning case, has nothing to do with the issues raised in this case. In *Pic-A-Flick*, the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's grant of injunction against the City when it tried to classify Pic-A-Flick as an adult business because it carried a small selection of X-rated movies.)

The Master-in-Equity also erroneously applied a “clear and convincing” standard, a standard that only applies to public **official** plaintiffs and to the application of punitive damages. *George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 440, 548 S.E.2d 868 (2001), *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 338 S.C. 444, 629 S.E.2d 653 (2006)

Argument 1: The Master in Equity improperly took up summary judgment while important discovery deficiencies remained unresolved and misapplied South Carolina law on plaintiff's application for relief for discovery violations by holding that the plaintiff was required to return to the initial judge to hear the motion for sanctions.

On May 22, 2022, the Master-in-Equity entered an Order turning away the plaintiff's prayer for relief for defendants', Charleston Carriage Horse Advocates and Harley's, continuous discovery violations on the erroneous grounds that the Defendants had complied with the previously issued discovery Orders, "Plaintiff received exactly what defendants said they would provide and what Plaintiff knew they would provide " R.O.A. Vol. 1, page 55 [Order at page 5, quoted below] and on the erroneous legal conclusion, citing *Richardson*, that the plaintiff was required to seek relief only from the original judge who entered the original discovery Orders:

Perhaps realizing this, Plaintiff also asks the court in the alternative to order CCHA and Harley to turn over their computers for forensic inspection. Plaintiff has multiple problems here. First, "there must be an Order of the Court before sanctions are imposed under subdivision (b). . . " *Richardson on Behalf of 15th Circuit Drugs Enf't Unit v. Twenty-one Thousand & no/100 Dollars, (\$21,000.00) U.S. Currency and Various Jewelry*, 430 S.C. 594, 599, 846 S.E.2d 15, 16 (citation omitted). As demonstrated, neither CCHA nor Harley violated Judge Price's June 17 Form 4 Order. Plaintiff received exactly what defendants said they would provide **and what Plaintiff knew they would provide**. Second, nothing in the Order requires production of computers or responsive documents to search terms. Third, physical access to the computers is unnecessary because CCHA and Harley have nonetheless run the proposed search and provided Plaintiff in excess of 10,000 responsive documents. The delay in running the search, moreover, is due Plaintiff's refusal to send search terms. Fourth and finally, the court indicated that Plaintiff to return for another motion to compel hearing if physical access to the computers could not be worked out. Rather than seek a court order via a motion to compel, Plaintiff is hoping the Court will bypass this step and award access as a sanction under Rule 37(b). Again this cannot be done. See *Richardson On Behalf of 15th Circuit Drugs Enf't Unit v. Twenty-one Thousand & no/100 Dollars, (\$21,000.00) U.S. Currency and Various Jewelry*, 430 S.C. 594, 598-600, 846 S.E.2d 14, 16-17 (discussing when sanctions are appropriate under Rule 37). (emphasis added) (R.O.A. page 55 [Order under review page 5])

This decision is controlled by multiple, palpable errors of law, starting with the trial court's casual attitude toward discovery abuses and its ability to speak for the plaintiff's state of mind. Before the Court on September 29, 2021, plaintiff's counsel explained at the outset that there remained material discovery disputes that had to be resolved **prior to taking up summary judgment**. The Master-in-Equity ignored the discovery issues, as well as plaintiff's application to amend and extend the scheduling Order, and proceeded directly to summary judgment. Plaintiff reminded the Court "that under *Doe v. Batson*, the court can't even entertain a motion for summary

judgment until the party resisting it has had a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery. That did not happen in this case.” (R.O.A. Vol. 4, page 1639 [tr. page 53, lines 13-16] The Master-in-Equity’s entire statement on this fundamental issue was: “All right. Got it.” (R.O.A. page 1639)

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