RECEIVED

Aug 10 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2018-CP-10-4083
Appellate Case No.: 2022-001114

Charleston Carriage Works, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Charleston Animal Society, Ellen Harley, and
Charleston Carriage Horse Advocates, LLC. Respondents.

RESPONDENT CHARLESTON ANIMAL SOCIETY'S FINAL BRIEF

Elizabeth J. Palmer (SC Bar #73680)
Saxton & Stump, LLC
151 Meeting St., Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 414-5080
ep@saxtonstump.com

Attorneys for Respondent
Charleston Animal Society

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

Appellant asserts that the Affidavit of Katherine Vaughn "explains how the defendants conspired to suppress truthful information to cast the plaintiff in a false light..." (App. Brief, p. 34). Ms. Vaughn's affidavit does no such thing. Rather, she describes having certain posts she made on CCHA's Facebook page removed/blocked by CCHA in 2020 and 2021 (3-4 years after the Big John video was published). (R. pp. 434-439). It's not even clear whether the posts she references had/have anything to do with Appellant. The lower court did not err in determining that this affidavit failed to provide competent evidence of defamation, malice, conspiracy, or anything else that is at issue.

Appellant alleges (without citation) that Respondents "cobbled together" the Big John vide. (App. Brief, p. 2). This is simply not true and directly contradicted by the Affidavit of Joe Elmore, in which Mr. Elmore explains that it was at his direction that CAS took videos of the Big John incident, received from members of the public, and created the "Big John" video and that "neither [Harley] nor [CCHA] had anything to do with the subtitles and narrative that CAS added to the Big John video published by [CAS]." (R. pp. 1775-1776, ¶¶ 9, 16).

It would be nearly impossible to respond to each and every false and unsupported allegation made by Appellant, and also unnecessary. There is some modicum of irony in a defamation

plaintiff basing its claim on false and unsupported allegations. The burden was on Appellant, and Appellant failed to produce any admissible evidence, as opposed to inferential leaps, wild speculation, unauthenticated hearsay, and total fabrications, that Respondents combined or had an agreement to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means. Appellant has also failed to produce any admissible evidence that Respondents, either individually or collectively, intended to harm it. It is telling that the overwhelming majority of allegedly “factual” statements made in Appellant’s brief are without citation.

The lower court’s granting of summary judgment as to the civil conspiracy claim should be affirmed.

III. The lower court correctly determined that Respondent CAS was entitled to summary judgment on the “Tortious Interference with Business Relations” cause of action because Appellant failed to present any evidence that any contract was breached.

In order to prevail on a claim for intentional interference with a contractual relationship, a party must prove: (1) the contract; (2) the wrongdoer’s knowledge of the contract; (3) its intentional procurement of the breach; (4) absence of justification; and (5) resulting damages. Todd v. South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 287 S.C. 190, 336 S.E.2d 472, 473 (1985). Appellant’s Complaint alleges that it has a contractual franchise relationship with the City of Charleston and that the “defendants have frequently and intentionally attempted to procure a breach of that franchise contract by publishing false and defamatory information about the plaintiff.” (R. p. 83, ¶ 24). However, Mr. Christoff testified as follows:

Q. Has any -- have you ever received any type of notice from anyone acting on behalf of the City of Charleston that your franchise contract was in jeopardy or anything related to your franchise contract?

A. No.

Q. Okay. So this is all hypothetical or potential that my franchise contract might someday in the future might be --

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So just to clarify, no threats to your franchise contract currently by the City?

A. Not that I'm aware of.

(R. pp. 730-731; R. p. 642, l. 20-23) (testifying that at no time has Appellant's franchise contract ever been terminated).

There has been no breach of the franchise contract, the subject of Appellant's "Tortious Interference with Business Relations" cause of action. See First Union Mortg. Corp. v. Thomas, 317 S.C. 63, 73, 451 S.E.2d 907, 913 (Ct. App. 1994) (interference with a contract is not enough, without a breach of the underlying contract, there can be no recovery). The lower court's order should be affirmed.

IV. The lower court correctly determined that Respondents were entitled to summary judgment on Appellant's cause of action for "Violation of Plaintiff's Civil Rights under Art. I, § 3, South Carolina Constitution – Gross Negligence, Recklessness".

Appellant alleges that CAS, acting under color of state law, knowingly published false information and, in so doing, deprived Appellant of its constitutionally guaranteed rights to conduct a lawful business and be free from threats of harm. (R. p. 82, ¶¶ 15-17). It further argues that, because Respondents acted in conjunction with one another in doing so, all Respondents are liable for violating Appellant's civil rights. (R. p. 82, ¶¶ 15-17). Appellant seeks monetary damages for this alleged deprivation. (R. p. 82, ¶¶ 18-19).

A. Because South Carolina does not recognize a cause of action for monetary damages for constitutional violations, the lower court’s order should be affirmed.

Because the South Carolina Constitution does not provide for a private cause of action for state constitutional violations and because the General Assembly has not enacted a statute enabling this type of action, Appellant’s claim seeking monetary damages for alleged violations of Article I, § 3 of the South Carolina Constitution fails. See Palmer v. State, 427 S.C. 36, 829 S.E.2d 255 (Ct. App. 2019), reh’g denied, (July 12, 2019) and cert. denied, (S.C. May 28, 2021) (holding the S.C. Constitution does not provide for monetary damages for civil rights violations).

B. Because Appellant failed to show any deprivation of a cognizable liberty or property interest, the lower court’s order should be affirmed.

In order to demonstrate a due process violation, Appellant must first show it was deprived of a constitutionally protected liberty or property interest. Am. Whitewater v. Tidwell, 959 F. Supp. 2d 839, 865 (D.S.C. 2013), aff’d, 770 F.3d 1108 (4th Cir. 2014); see also Tigrett v. Rector & Visitors of Univ. of Virginia, 290 F.3d 620, 628 (4th Cir. 2002) (“Whether a deprivation of constitutional rights has occurred is not dependent upon the subjective feelings or beliefs of a plaintiff. In order to properly maintain a due process claim, a plaintiff must have been, in fact, deprived of a constitutionally protected liberty or property interest.”).

The right to hold specific employment and the right to follow a chosen profession free from unreasonable governmental interference come within the liberty and property interests protected by the Due Process Clause. Brown v. S.C. State Bd. of Educ., 301 S.C. 326, 329, 391 S.E.2d 866, 867 (1990) (citing Greene v. McElroy, 360 U.S. 474 (1959)). The liberty interest at stake is the individual’s freedom to practice his or her chosen profession; the property interest is the specific employment. Id.

Appellant produced no evidence that it was deprived of its liberty interest to practice its

chosen profession or of its property interest in any specific employment.

C. Because Respondent CAS is not a governmental entity and, even if a quasi-governmental entity, was not acting under the color of state law in making any of the statements at issue, the lower court's order should be affirmed.

Alternatively, Respondents were entitled to summary judgment on this claim because Appellant presented no evidence of any state action. Appellant alleges that CAS is a “quasi-governmental entity as Charleston County taxpayers’ money subsidizes its operations.” (R. p. 82, ¶ 16). CAS is a private, charitable 501(c)(3) organization. (R. p. 1774, ¶ 4). For many years, Charleston County has contracted with CAS to provide certain animal-related services. (R. pp. 1775-1776, ¶ 14). The contract between the county and CAS provides that CAS “shall receive and provide for the humane disposition of dogs and cats running at-large, and such other animals as delivered into its custody...”. (R. pp. 1783-1790).

Even if CAS were a “quasi-governmental entity”, the lower court properly granted summary judgment on this claim because Appellant failed to produce evidence that the government was substantially, or even minimally, involved in the challenged activity (i.e., Respondents’ advocacy for the carriage horses and publication of the allegedly defamatory statements). Jackson v. Metro. Edison Co., 419 U.S. 345, 351 (1974) (“the inquiry must be whether there is a sufficiently close nexus between the State and the challenged action of the regulated entity so that the action of the latter may be fairly treated as that of the State itself”); Brentwood Academy v. Tennessee Secondary Sch. Athletic. Ass’n., 531 U.S. 288, 295 (2001) (state action may be found if, though only if, there is such a close nexus between the State and the challenged action that seemingly private behavior may be fairly treated as that of the State itself); New York City Jaycees, Inc. V. U.S. Jaycees, Inc., 512 F.2d 856, 858 (2nd Cir. 1975) (“The mere existence of government ties to a private organization is not sufficient to support a finding of state

action...the state must be involved not simply with some activity of the institution alleged to have inflicted injury upon a plaintiff but with the activity that caused the injury”) (internal citations omitted); Blum v. Yaretsky, 457 U.S. 991, 997 (1982) (whether there is state action is an issue of law). The requisite connection between government and the actions complained of has not been shown. Appellant’s constitutional challenge was addressed solely to the advocacy and speech of Respondents as it relates to the carriage industry, yet Appellant made no showing that the government is substantially, or even minimally, involved in these activities.

V. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant’s Motion to Amend its Complaint.

Appellant filed a Motion to Amend on April 6, 2020, seeking to amend its Complaint to: 1) add Broderick Christoff, the sole member/owner of Plaintiff, and his wife, Amber Christoff, as plaintiffs; 2) add Catherine Poag, Elizabeth Fort, Elizabeth Slagsvol⁴, Domangue Consulting, and Digital Solutions, Inc.⁵, as defendants; and 3) add four additional causes of action, titled “Fraud/Slander/Libel Defamation Per Se”, “Fraud/Piercing the Corporate Veil”, “Slander per se/Outrage”, and “Outrage”. The lower court properly denied this motion, determining that Rule 15, SCRPC, did not allow the addition of new parties, that the amendments were untimely and would prejudice the Respondents, and that the amendment would be futile because the claims sought to be added were untimely.

A motion to amend pleadings is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be disturbed unless there is shown an abuse of discretion. Anders v. Nash, 256 S.C. 102, 180 S.E.2d 878 (1971). An abuse of discretion occurs when a court’s order is controlled by an error of law or there is no evidentiary support for the court’s factual conclusions. Fairchild

⁴ These individuals are alleged to be affiliated with CCHA.

⁵ These entities are alleged to be CCHA’s “media companies”.

v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 398 S.C. 90, 727 S.E.2d 407 (2012).

Appellant moved to amend pursuant to Rule 15, SCRPC. (R. pp. 242-243) The lower court correctly determined that Rule 15, SCRPC, does not permit the additional of additional persons/entities as plaintiffs and defendants. See Valentine v. Davis, 319 S.C. 169, 171, 460 S.E.2d 218, 219 (Ct. App. 1995) (finding that Rule 15, SCRPC, does not allow existing parties to add additional parties).

Additionally, there was ample evidentiary support for the lower court's determination that the amendments were untimely and would prejudice the Respondents. As to the addition of Mr. and Mrs. Christoff as plaintiffs, CAS presented evidence that Appellant, as well as Mr. and Mrs. Christoff, were aware of the claims and damages they sought to assert in an amended complaint as early as late April 2017. (R. pp. 799-800, 814-817). Appellant failed to provide an adequate explanation for its delay in seeking to amend the Complaint when the action had been pending for over three years, discovery had concluded in February 2020, and the facts giving rise to the claims sought to be asserted were known over four years before the Motion to Amend was filed.

Additionally, Respondents would be prejudiced by virtue of the additional discovery and depositions that would have to be taken, and in some cases, re-taken due to the addition of new parties and four additional causes of action. Although arising out of the same incident, the additional causes of action had elements distinct from those of the original Complaint and thus would require additional discovery. For example, Appellant sought to add a claim for fraud. Fraud had not previously been alleged and would require completely different evidence (and discovery) to defend. See Ball v. Canadian Am. Exp. Co., Inc., 314 S.C. 272, 275, 442 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 1994) (prejudice occurs when the amendment states a new claim or defense that would require the opposing party to introduce additional or different evidence to prevail in the amended

action). Likewise, numerous depositions were taken, but the scope of those depositions were limited to the claims/parties in the original Complaint. The proposed amendments would have required many of those depositions to be re-taken and additional depositions to be taken as well. See Holland ex rel. Knox v. Morbark, Inc., 407 S.C. 227, 754 S.E.2d 714 (Ct. App. 2014) reh'g denied (amendment seeking to add claims against defendant following conclusion of discovery would have been prejudicial to defendant, where plaintiff had all knowledge necessary to alert him as to the claim prior to the close of discovery, and the new claim would have required defendant to conduct additional discovery).

Finally, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the amendment would be futile. Health Promotion Specialists, L.L.C. v. S.C. Bd. of Dentistry, 403 S.C. 623, 632, 743 S.E.2d 808, 812–13 (2013) (affirming the circuit court's denial of a party's motion to amend its complaint when the amendment would be futile). It has long been recognized that an amendment adding a claim barred by the applicable statute of limitations is futile and should be denied. See Coral Gables v. Palmetto Brick Co., 183 S.C. 478, 191 S.E. 337, 341 (1937) (“The court will not do a useless and a futile thing, by allowing an opportunity for setting up a new cause of action by amendment, which is barred by the statute of limitations.”). All of the claims sought to be added by Appellant's Motion to Amend arose out of the Big John video, which was published in April 2017. Moreover, there is no “relation back” argument available to Appellant and its attempt to add additional parties, even if Rule 15 was applicable. See Cline v. J.E. Faulkner Homes, Inc., 359 S.C. 367, 371, 597 S.E.2d 27, 29 (Ct. App. 2004) (relation back to original pleadings applies only when an existing party is changed, not when a new party is added to a complaint, emphasizing that “under South Carolina law, the date when a plaintiff learns of a potential new defendant has absolutely no bearing on the timing of the statute of limitations”); Gause v. Smithers,

384 S.C. 130, 681 S.E.2d 607 (Ct. App. 2009) (police officer’s naming of son, in amended complaint, as actual driver of vehicle he stopped when officer was hit by second vehicle, amounted to the addition of a defendant and not the change of a party within meaning of relation back rule, and as such, the addition of son, while keeping father in case, did not relate back to original complaint filed against father as owner and erroneously assumed driver of the stopped vehicle, for statute of limitations purposes.); Jackson v. Doe, 342 S.C. 552, 558, 537 S.E.2d 567, 570 (Ct. App. 2000) (“The language of Rule 15(c) clearly speaks to a change in party, not the addition of a defendant to an already existing defendant. In our view, the addition of a party is not the same as a substitution or change of party.”).

The lower court properly exercised its discretion in determining that the proposed amendments were untimely and would prejudice Respondents. The Order denying the Motion to Amend should be affirmed.

VI. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant’s Motion for Amended Scheduling Order.

Appellant filed a Motion for Amended Scheduling Order on October 20, 2020, requesting additional time to conduct discovery. (R. pp. 336-337). The lower court denied the motion, correctly determining that Appellant failed to show good cause why additional discovery should be permitted. (R. pp. 40-43).

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